Radiopharmacy: Basics

Tamer B. Saleh

Contents

Introduction				
An Ideal Radiopharmaceutical				
Production of Radionuclides				
2.3.1	Reactor-Produced Radionuclides			
2.3.2	Cyclotron-Produced Radionuclides			
2.3.3	Generator-Produced Radionuclides			
Comm	on Radiopharmaceuticals			
2.4.1	Thallium-201			
2.4.2	Gallium-67			
2.4.3	Iodine Radiopharmaceuticals			
2.4.4	Indium-111 Radiopharmaceuticals			
2.4.5	Xenon-133			
2.4.6	Chromium-51			
2.4.7	Phosphorus-32			
2.4.8	Strontium-89			
2.4.9	Rhenium-186			
2.4.10	Samarium-153			
2.4.11	¹¹¹ In- and ⁹⁰ Y-Ibritumomab			
	Tiuxetan (Zevalin)			
2.4.12	⁹⁰ Y-Labeled Microspheres			
2.4.13	Lutetium-177 Compounds			
rences .				
	Introd An Ide Produ 2.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3 Comm 2.4.1 2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 2.4.8 2.4.9 2.4.10 2.4.11 2.4.12 2.4.13 rences			

2.1 Introduction

A *radiopharmaceutical* is a radioactive compound that has two components, a radionuclide and a pharmaceutical; it is used for the diagnosis and treatment of human diseases. All radiopharmaceuticals are legend drugs and are subject to all regulations that apply to

King Fahed Specialist Hospital, Dammam, KSA e-mail: tamirbayomy@yahoo.com

other drugs. The difference between a radiochemical and a radiopharmaceutical is that the former is not administered to humans due to the possible lack of sterility and nonpyrogenicity; any material administered to humans must be sterile and nonpyrogenic. A radiopharmaceutical may be a radioactive element like ¹³³Xe or a labeled compound such as ^{99m}Tc-labeled compounds [1].

In nuclear medicine, about 95% of the radiopharmaceuticals are used for medical diagnosis; only about 5% are used for therapeutic purposes. In designing a radiopharmaceutical, a suitable pharmaceutical is chosen on the basis of its preferential localization in a given organ or its participation in the physiological function of the organ. Then, a suitable radionuclide is tagged onto the chosen pharmaceutical and administered to the patient [2]. The radiation emitted from the organ can be detected by an external radiation detector for assessment of the morphological structure and the physiological function of that organ. Radiopharmaceuticals in most cases have no pharmacological effect as they are mainly administered in tracer amounts. So, they mainly do not show any dose-response relationship. For the therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals, however, the observed biological effect is from the radiation itself and not from the pharmaceutical [3].

Nuclear medicine procedures generally have two classifications; the first is those that depend on singlephoton emitters, for which planar and tomographic imaging (single-photon emission computed tomography or SPECT) are the options of image acquisition. The other type is positron emission tomography (PET), for which the detection process relies on positronelectron annihilation and the release of two opposing photons (180° apart). The key component that distinguishes these techniques among other modalities is the diversity and ability of their contrast agents to

T.B. Saleh

M.M. Khalil (ed.), *Basic Sciences of Nuclear Medicine*, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-85962-8_2, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

answer a clinical question. The contrast agents in nuclear medicine are radiolabeled compounds or radiopharmaceuticals that, when localized in the region of interest, emit important information about the pathophysiologic status of the tissue involved. Both imaging techniques have high sensitivity in detecting molecular concentrations in the pico or nano range, and their role in functional or molecular imaging is well addressed. SPECT and PET radiopharmaceuticals have a wide acceptance in molecular imaging, biomedical research disciplines, and drug development. However, many SPECT tracers are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), widely available, well reviewed in the literature, and relatively cheaper and perform for a signifi-

situation is not true for the use of PET compounds. SPECT radiotracers have a particular position in the matrix of molecular imaging due to their ability to image endogenous ligands such as peptides and antibodies and their ability to measure relatively slow kinetic processes due to the relatively long halflife of the commonly used isotopes (in comparison to PET). In addition, the capability to measure two different photon energies allows SPECT systems to depict two molecular pathways simultaneously by measuring their corresponding photon emissions [4]. In this chapter, we discuss some basic concepts about properties of radiopharmaceuticals, production, and generator systems used in clinical practice.

cant patient population on a daily basis, whereas this

2.2 An Ideal Radiopharmaceutical

The definition of an ideal radiopharmaceutical in nuclear medicine procedures varies according to its use. The aim of a diagnostic radiopharmaceutical is to provide detectable photons with minimal biological effect to the cells or organ, whereas it is desired to produce a cytotoxic effect in a therapeutic procedure [5]. Generally, an ideal radiopharmaceutical for diagnostic procedures should meet the following characteristics:

Short half-life: Radiopharmaceuticals should have a relatively short effective half-life, which should not exceed the time assigned to complete the study. It provides a smaller radiation dose to the organ and ambient structures together with reduced exposure to workers, family members, and others. However, radiotracers with short lifetimes mandate an injection of a high-activity concentration using fast imaging systems and may also compromise image quality. Thus, an optimal half-life satisfies imaging requirements while maintaining the quality of the scan. Protein synthesis and peptide formation involve a slow kinetic process; thus, single-photon emitters provide an opportunity to study the underlying functional disorders while the tracer still is able to emit a signal [1].

Suitable radionuclide emission: Radiopharmaceuticals emitting γ -radiation by electron capture or isomeric transition (energy between 30 and 300 keV) are commonly used in nuclear medicine diagnostic procedures. For therapeutic purposes, α -, β -, and Auger electron emitters are used because of their high linear energy transfer, which leads to maximum exposure and damage of the target cells. The α -particles and Auger electron emitters are mostly monoenergetic, whereas the β -particles have a continuous energy spectrum up to their maximum energy E_{max} .

High target-to-nontarget ratio: In all diagnostic procedures, it is well known that the agent with better target uptake is a superior imaging agent since the activity from the nontarget areas can interfere with the structural details of the organ imaged. Therefore, the target-to-nontarget activity ratio should be as large as possible.

Target uptake rate: The rate at which an organ takes up the administrated radiopharmaceutical is also considered a key characteristic of an ideal radiopharmaceutical because it influences the period after which imaging acquisition is done. It is preferable to get images as early as possible for patient convenience. For example, ^{99m}Tc-pertechnetate is preferable to ¹²³I-NaI because the thyroid-imaging procedure can be performed after 20 min of dose administration, while with ¹²³I-NaI it takes 4–6 h to launch the imaging session.

Tracer excretion: The most common excretion route is renal clearance, which is rapid and can reduce exposure to the blood, whole body, and marrow. In contrast, the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and hepatobiliary excretion is slow and leads to higher GIT and whole-body exposures. With GIT excretion, reabsorption into the blood also occurs. Since organ visualization is better when the background tissues have less uptake than the target organ, the radiopharmaceutical must be cleared from the blood and background tissue to achieve better image contrast. Availability: The ideal radiopharmaceutical should be cost effective, inexpensive, and readily available in any nuclear medicine facility. This feature also characterizes the spread and diffusion of gamma emitters compared to PET-based compounds.

2.3 Production of Radionuclides

Naturally occurring radionuclides cannot be employed for medical diagnosis because of their long half-lives, which warrant the need for production of other radionuclides that can be safely used for medical applications. Most of the radionuclides for medical use are produced in nuclear reactors or cyclotrons. Some of the radionuclides are eluted from the generators in which the parent radionuclide is produced from a reactor or a cyclotron [2].

The process of all radionuclide production can be described by the general equation

where

X is the target element. Y is the product element. BP is the bombarding particle (projectile). EP is the emitted product.

Pure metals are the best targets to use because of their high ability to sustain the high temperature in cyclotron and reactor systems.

2.3.1 Reactor-Produced Radionuclides

The two major principles of a nuclear reactor are that the neutrons induce fission in the fissile material constructing the fuel rods (e.g., U^{235} , P^{239}) of the reactor and the number of neutrons released in that fission reaction is about two or three neutrons with a mean energy of 1.5 MeV.

$$U^{235} + n \rightarrow fission products + vn$$

....

These new neutrons are used to produce fission in other nuclei, resulting in the release of new neutrons that initiate the chain reaction. This chain reaction must be controlled to avoid the possible *meltdown* situation in the reactor using special neutron moderators (low molecular weight materials such as water, heavy water, and graphite, which are distributed in the spaces between the fuel rods), and neutron absorbers (e.g., cadmium rods placed in the fuel core) are used to thermalize and reduce the energy of the emitted neutrons to 0.025 eV to maintain equilibrium [1].

From the medical usefulness point of view, there are two types of nuclear reactions used to produce radioisotopes of interest 2 types: thermal neutron reactions and fission (n, f) reactions.

2.3.1.1 Thermal Neutron Reactions

The thermal neutrons around the core of the nuclear reactor can induce the following types of nuclear reactions:

$$A_Z^Y + \mathbf{n} \to A_Z^{Y+1} + \gamma$$
$$A_Z^Y + \mathbf{n} \to A_{Z-1}^Y + \mathbf{p}$$

In the first type of reaction, the target atom A captures a neutron and emits gamma rays (γ), also written as an (n, γ) reaction.

For example:

In the second type of reactions, a proton is emitted after absorption of the neutron, resulting in a new element with different atomic number (Z).

For example:

$$^{14}N(n,p)$$
 ^{14}C
 $^{3}He(n,p)$ ^{3}H

Although the (n, γ) reaction produces a radioisotope from a stable one with a low specific activity product that are not carrier free, no sophisticated chemical separation procedures are required.

The (n, p) reaction produces an isotope with a different atomic number (element), enabling the

production of high specific activity and carrier-free radioisotopes. *Specific activity* can be defined as the amount of activity per unit mass of a radionuclide or a labeled compound.

Products of (n, γ) reactions include parent isotopes, which are commonly used in nuclear generators to produce daughter radionuclides, which are the isotopes of interest; these are usually separated from their parents by column chromatography procedures.

For example:

²⁸Mo(n,
$$\gamma$$
) ⁹⁹Mo $\xrightarrow{t1/2=67}$ h $\xrightarrow{99m}$ Tc
¹²⁴Xe(n, γ) ¹²⁵Xe $\xrightarrow{t1/2=67}$ h $\xrightarrow{125}$ I

2.3.1.2 Fission or (n, f) Reactions

Fission is a process of breaking up a heavy nucleus (e.g., ²³⁵U, ²³⁹Pu, ²³²Th) and any other material with an atomic number greater than 90 into two fragments (by-products).

For example:

$$U_{92}^{235} + n \rightarrow U_{92}^{236} \rightarrow Kr_{36}^{89} + Ba_{56}^{144} + 3n$$
$$U_{92}^{235} + n \rightarrow U_{92}^{236} \rightarrow I_{53}^{131} + Y_{39}^{102} + 3n$$
$$U_{92}^{235} + n \rightarrow U_{92}^{236} \rightarrow Mo_{42}^{99} + Sn_{50}^{135} + 2n$$

The neutron interacts with the ²³⁵U nucleus to form unstable uranium atom ²³⁶U, which breaks into two different smaller atoms and a number of neutrons. The isotopes produced may be employed in nuclear medicine (⁹⁹M, ¹³¹I, ¹³³Xe); the greatest portion of these radioisotopes is not useful in nuclear medicine as they tend to decay by β^- emission. Unlike the radioisotopes formed from (n, γ) reactions, fission products can be chemically treated to produce carrier-free radionuclides. But, the major problem is how to separate them from the other products to obtain the highest level of radiochemical purity of the end product. The radioisotopes are mainly separated by appropriate chemical procedures that may involve precipitation, solvent extraction, ion exchange, distillation, and chromatography. Two of the most common isotopes are discussed as examples:

Molybdenum-99: For ⁹⁹Mo separation, the irradiated uranium target is dissolved in nitric acid, and the solution is adsorbed on an alumina (Al_2O_3) column. The column is then washed with nitric acid to remove uranium and other fission products.

Iodine-131: For chemical separation of ¹³¹I from ²³⁵U, the latter is dissolved in 18% sodium hydroxide (NaOH) by heating, and hydroxides of many metal ions are then precipitated by cooling. The supernatant containing sodium iodide is acidified with sulfuric acid. Iodide is oxidized to iodine by the effect of the acid, and iodine is collected in a NaOH by distillation.

2.3.2 Cyclotron-Produced Radionuclides

Cyclotron systems, which were invented in 1930, have an obvious role in the production of a wide range of nuclear medicine radiopharmaceuticals, especially those with short half-lives.

The basic principle of their operation is the acceleration of charged particles such as protons, deuterons, and α -particles in a spiral path inside two semicircular, flat, evacuated metallic cylinders called "dees." The dees are placed between the two poles of a magnet (see Fig. 2.1) so that the ion beam is constrained within a circular path inside the dees. At the gap between the dees, the ions experience acceleration due to the imposition of the potential difference. The beam particles originate at the ion source at the center of the cyclotron, and as they spiral outward in the dees, they acquire increasing energy for each passage across the gap of the dees. Eventually, the high-energy particles reach the periphery of the dees, where they are directed toward a target for bombardment [6].

Fixed-frequency cyclotrons can accelerate positively charged ions up to only 50 MeV for protons due to the relativistic increase in the mass of the accelerated particle, while for linear accelerators, particle acceleration can occur up to several hundreds of mega-electron-volts because of the ability of the accelerator to compensate for the increase in mass of highenergy particles. Advanced techniques have been developed to use cyclotrons to accelerate particles to much higher energies [7].

The majority of cyclotrons built prior to 1980 accelerated positively charged ions (i.e., H^+); medical

Fig. 2.1 Layout of cyclotron



cyclotrons accelerate negative ions (H⁻). This design allows for a simple deflection system in which the beam is intercepted by a thin carbon foil that extracts the negative ions at the end of the trajectory, resulting in the formation of a positively charged H⁺ beam. The beam then changes the direction without a deflector due to the magnetic field. The H⁺ bombards the target in a manner similar to that in a positively charged ion cyclotron. It is also possible to extract the beam at two different points in the machine, allowing use of a negative-ion cyclotron for production of two different radioisotopes simultaneously [8]. Generally, when the target nuclei are irradiated by the accelerated particles, a nuclear reaction takes place. The incident particle, after interaction, may leave some of its energy in the nucleus or be completely absorbed by it, depending on its incident energy. In either case, the nucleus is excited, resulting in the emission of nucleons (protons and neutrons) followed by γ -ray emission.

Depending on the energy deposited by the incident particle, a number of nucleons may be emitted randomly from the irradiated nucleus, leading to the formation of different nuclides. As the energy of the irradiating particle is increased, more nucleons are emitted and therefore a greater variety of nuclides may be produced.

An example of a simple cyclotron-produced radionuclide is the production of ¹¹¹In by irradiation of ¹¹¹Cd with 12-MeV protons. The nuclear reaction can be expressed as follows:

111
Cd (p, n) 111 In

In this case, a second nucleon may not be emitted because there is not enough energy left after the emission of the first neutron. The excitation energy insufficient to emit any more nucleons will be dissipated by γ -ray emission.

The target material must be pure and preferably monoisotopic or at least enriched in the desired isotope to avoid the production of extraneous radioisotopes. In addition, the energy and type of the irradiating particle must be chosen to avoid the presence of undesired radionuclides.

Table 2.1 represents the most common commercial cyclotrons presented by the International Atomic Energy Authority (IAEA) report for cyclotron distribution in member states in 2006 [9].

2.3.3 Generator-Produced Radionuclides

The first commercial radionuclide generator was produced in the United States in the early 1960s (Brookhaven National Laboratories); since then, a number of different types of generators have been developed for various purposes in nuclear medicine. Generators are "parent–daughter systems involving a long-lived parent radionuclide that decays to short half-life daughter" and is called a generator because of its ability to generate continuously a relatively short-lived daughter radionuclide. The parent and its daughter nuclides are not isotopes; therefore, chemical separation is possible. Table 2.2 represents the most commonly used generators in nuclear medicine applications.

Radionuclide generators are formed by a glass or plastic column fitted at the bottom with a filtered disk. The column is fitted with absorbent material such as alumina, on which the parent nuclide is absorbed. Daughter radionuclides are generated by the decay of the parent radionuclide until either a *transient* or *secular* equilibrium is reached; after that, the daughter appears to decay with the half-life of the parent. The daughter is eluted in a carrier-free state (because it is not an isotope of the parent radionuclide) with a sterile and pyrogen-free appropriate solvent; then, the activity of the daughter starts to increase again up to equilibrium, so the elution can be made multiple times. Figure 2.2 shows a typical generator system.

 Table 2.1
 Common commercial cyclotrons for cyclotron distribution

Company	Model	Description
CTI, Inc./ Siemens	RDS 111 RDS 112	11 MeV H–, 40,60 μA 11 MeV H–, 40 μA
GE	PETrace	16.5 MeV H–, 8.6 MeV D–, 80 μΑ
Ion Beam Applications (IBA)	Cyclone 18/9 Cyclone 30+	18 MeV H–, 9 MeV D–, 80 μA 30 MeV H–, 15 MeV D–, 60 μA
Sumitomo Heavy Industries	CYPRIS 370 AVF 930+	16 MeV H+, 10 MeV D+, 60 μA 90 MeV H+, 60 μA
Scanditronix Medical AB	MC40+	10–40 MeV H+, 5–20 MeV D+, 60 μA

Several methods can be adopted to obtain a sterilized eluted radionuclide:

- The entire column of the generator is autoclaved.
- Column preparation occurs under general aseptic conditions.
- Bacteriostatic agents are added to the generator column.
- A membrane filter unit is attached to the end of the column.
- Elution procedures are carried out under aseptic conditions.

2.3.3.1 Daughter Yield Equations

Assuming that there is initially no daughter activity in the generator, the daughter activity at any given time *t* is given by

$$A_2 = \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} A_1^0 (e^{-\lambda_1 t} - e^{-\lambda_2 t})$$

where

 A_2 is the daughter activity at time t.

- A_1^0 is the parent activity at time zero.
- λ_1 and λ_2 are decay constants for the parent and daughter, respectively.

In case of transient equilibrium, as time *t* becomes sufficiently long, $e^{-\lambda_2 t}$ is negligible compared with $e^{-\lambda_1 t}$, and the equation becomes

$$A_2 = \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} A_1^0(e^{-\lambda_1 t})$$

able 2	2.2	Some generator	r systems us	sed in nuc	elear medicine	e applications
--------	-----	----------------	--------------	------------	----------------	----------------

Parent	Parent $(T_{1/2})$	Nuclear reaction	Daughter	Daughter $(T_{1/2})$	Mode of daughter decay	Principal keV (% abundance)	Column	Eluant
⁹⁹ Mo	66 h	Fission	^{99m} Tc	6 h	IT	140(90)	Al2O ₃	0.9% NaCl
⁸⁷ Y	80 h	⁸⁸ Sr(p,2n)	⁸⁷ mSr	2.8 h	IT	388(82)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dowex} \\ 1 \times 8 \end{array}$	0.15 <i>M</i> NaHCO ₃
⁶⁸ Ge	271 days	⁶⁹ Ga69 (p,2n)	⁶⁸ Ga	68 min	B+	511(178)	Al_2O_3	0.005 <i>M</i> EDTA
⁶² Zn	9.3 h	⁶³ Cu(p,2n)	⁶² Cu	9.7 min	B+	511(194)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dowex} \\ 1 \times 8 \end{array}$	2N HCL
⁸² Sr	25.5 days	⁸⁵ Rb(p,4n)	⁸² Rb	75 s	B+	511(190)	SnO_2	0.9% NaCl
Adapted from [2]								

Adapted from [2].



Fig. 2.2 Typical generator system

Since $A_1^0(e^{-\lambda_1 t})$ is the parent activity at time *t*, we can express it by A_1 , and the equation can be rewritten as

$$A_2 = \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} A_1$$

In case of secular equilibrium, the parent activity does not decrease dramatically even after many daughter half-lives. As such, the decay constant of the parent λ_1 is much smaller than that of the daughter. So, we can make an approximation and assume that $\lambda_2 - \lambda_1 \approx \lambda_2$ and $A_1 = A_2$; thus, the daughter activity is equal to the parent activity.

2.3.3.2 ⁹⁹Mo-^{99m}Tc Generator

The ⁹⁹Mo-^{99m}Tc generator has been the most commonly used radionuclide generator in nuclear medicine practice worldwide since its first commercial introduction in 1965. It has several characteristics and attractive properties, which are summarized as follows [10]:

- Cost effective and simple to use
- Sterile and pyrogen free
- High radionuclide and radiochemical purity
- Used to produce many ^{99m}Tc-labeled radiopharmaceuticals frequently used in nuclear medicine departments
- Ideal half-life of the daughter nuclide (6 h) and optimum energy (140 keV, ~90% abundance)

radionuclide) has a half-life of 66 h and decays by β -emission (87%) to metastable state technetium (^{99m}Tc) and in 13% to ground state (⁹⁹Tc), while ^{99m}Tc has a half-life of 6 h and decays to ⁹⁹Tc by an isomeric transition with the emission of 140-keV gamma photons [11].

2.3.3.3 Liquid Column (Solvent Extraction) Generator

The basic principle of the liquid column (solvent extraction) generator involves placing a 20% NaOH solution of ⁹⁹Mo in a glass column and then letting methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) flow through that column to extract ^{99m}TcO₄, leaving ⁹⁹Mo in an aqueous solution. The advantage of this generator is that it is extremely cost effective, but it needs many manipulations in the overall method and causes more radiation exposure to staff involved. Its use in nuclear medicine is diminishing.

2.3.3.4 Solid Column Generator

A solid column ⁹⁹Mo-^{99m}Tc generator is made initially with alumina (Al₂O₃) loaded in a plastic or glass column where the⁹⁹Mo radionuclide is adsorbed on alumina in the chemical form ⁹⁹MoO₄ (molybdate). The column is washed with isotonic saline to remove any undesirable activity. The amount of alumina used is about 5–10 g, depending on the total ⁹⁹Mo activity used. ^{99m}Tc radionuclide is eluted as a product of ⁹⁹Mo decay in the form of sodium pertechnetate (Na^{99m}TcO₄) with a 0.9% NaCl solution. After elution, the ^{99m}Tc activity starts to grow again up to equilibrium [12]. Elution may be carried out even before equilibrium if needed, and the amount of activity obtained depends on the time elapsed between the previous and the present elution.

For radiation protection purposes, the generator columns are shielded with lead or depleted uranium in generators with high ⁹⁹Mo activity because ²³⁸U has a higher Z number and therefore attenuates γ -rays more efficiently.

There are two types of solid column ⁹⁹Mo-^{99m} Tc generators: wet and dry column. Dry column generators are preferable due to the repeated withdrawal of saline from the column after routine generator usage by an evacuated tube, which prevents the formation of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and perhydroxyl free radical (HO_2), which if present in the ^{99m}Tc eluate can interfere with the ^{99m}Tc labeling procedures because they can act as oxidants. In addition, in wet column generators, saline in the tubing may possibly freeze in extremely cold weather, thus preventing elution until thawed.

2.3.3.5 ^{99m}Tc Yield in the ⁹⁹Mo-^{99m}Tc Generator

Since ⁹⁹Mo and ^{99m}Tc radionuclides decay to ⁹⁹Tc, the generator eluate contains both ^{99m}Tc and ⁹⁹Tc in various concentrations. The fraction of ^{99m}Tc decreases due to the rapid decay of ^{99m}Tc, especially when the time between elutions increases. ^{99m}Tc and ⁹⁹Tc have the same chemical structure, so ⁹⁹Tc can interfere with the preparation of ^{99m}Tc radiopharmaceuticals, especially with kits containing small amounts of stannous ions. This situation becomes critical when the generators are left without elution for several days [13].

The ^{99m}Tc content in the generator eluate can be expressed by the following equation:

$$F = N_A/(N_A + N_B)$$

where *F* is the ^{99m}Tc mole fraction. N_A and N_B are the number of ^{99m}Tc and ⁹⁹Tc, respectively.

The mole fraction of 99m Tc (*F*) at any time *t* can be calculated as

$$F = 0.87\lambda_1 (e^{-\lambda_1 t} - e^{-\lambda_2 t}) / (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)(1 - e^{-\lambda_1 t})$$

where λ_1 and λ_2 are decay constants for the ⁹⁹Mo and ^{99m}Tc, respectively. The factor 0.87 indicates that 87% of ⁹⁹Mo decays to ^{99m}Tc.

2.3.3.6 Other Generator Systems

¹¹³Sn-¹¹³In Generator

Indium-113 can be used to prepare a number of radiopharmaceuticals used for imaging of lungs, liver, brain, and kidneys. ¹¹³Sn has a half-life of 117 days, while the daughter ¹¹³In has a half-life of 100 min and energy of 393 keV [14]. The generator is made up of hydrous zirconium oxide contained in a plastic or glass column. Sn-113 produced in a reactor by neutron irradiation and in the stannic form is adsorbed on the column, and the daughter ¹¹³In is eluted with 0.05*N* HCl [15].

Due to the relatively long half-life of ¹¹³Sn (117 days), the ¹¹³Sn-¹¹³In generator can be used for 6–12 months, making it one of the most economical generators. The disadvantage of this generator is the improper energy of 393-keV photons from ¹¹³In with routinely used gamma camera detectors. ¹¹³Sn-¹¹³In generators generally have been replaced by moly generators; however, they are still useful in some developing countries and isolated regions of the world [3].

⁸¹Rb-⁸¹Kr Generator

⁸¹Kr is a gamma-ray-emitting radionuclide with a photon energy of 190 keV (192% abundance). It is commonly used as a lung and myocardial perfusion imaging agent [16]. The generator is formed of a column containing a cation exchange resin (Bio-Rad AGMP-50), where the cyclotron-produced ⁸¹Rb ($t_{1/2} = 47$ h) is loaded. The noble gas ⁸¹Kr ($t_{1/2} = 13$ s) is eluted by passing humidified oxygen over the generator column [17]. The ⁸¹Kr and O₂ are delivered to the patient through a nonbreathing face mask. The major disadvantages of the ⁸¹Rb-⁸¹Kr generator are the high cost and the 12-h expiration time of the nuclide of the generator [3].

⁸²Sr-⁸²Rb Generator

Rubidium-82 is a positron-emitting radionuclide and is used primarily as a myocardial perfusion agent for PET imaging. It serves as an alternative to the accepted oxygen-15 and nitrogen-13 with an increasing trend for use in research and clinical practice [18]. Its importance also lies in the fact that the production process does not require a cyclotron system and its associated complexities.

⁸²Sr ($t_{1/2} = 25$ days) decays by electron capture to ⁸²Rb ($t_{1/2} = 75$ s), which decays by β⁺ emission. To make the generator, the cyclotron-produced ⁸²Sr is loaded on a SnO₂ column, and ⁸²Rb is eluted with 0.9% NaCl solution to obtain it in the form of rubidium chloride. Because of its short half-life, ⁸²Rb elution can be repeated every 10–15 min with maximum yield [19]. The disadvantage of this generator is the short half-life of the ⁸²Rb daughter radionuclide. In an effort to overcome the short half-life, a calibrated continuous infusion system has been developed, allowing elution of the generator directly into an intravenous catheter [20].

The activity of ⁸²Rb produced from a ⁸²Sr-⁸²Rb generator is dependent on elution conditions (volume and eluent flow rate) and sampling conditions (time and position of collection). There is a characteristic curve for the elution of Rb-82 from the generator that depends on the flow rate and the Sr-82 activity within the generator. This results in a variation of the infusion profile, thus altering the amount of tracer injected [21].

⁶⁸Ge-⁶⁸ Ga Generator

⁶⁸ Ga is primarily used for brain tumor imaging, but with the availability of positron systems and its emission of 2.92-MeV positrons in 89% abundance, its use has increased in PET applications [22]. This generator is made up of alumina loaded in a plastic or glass column. Carrier-free ⁶⁸Ge ($t_{1/2} = 271$ days) in concentrated HCl is neutralized in EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) solution and adsorbed on the column. Then, ⁶⁸ Ga ($t_{1/2} = 68$ min) is eluted with 0.005*M* EDTA solution. Alternatively, ⁶⁸Ge is adsorbed on a stannous dioxide column, and ⁶⁸ Ga is eluted with 1.0*N* HCl. This generator can be eluted frequently with a maximum yield in a few hours [23].

⁶²Zn-⁶²Cu Generator

Copper-62 is also a positron-emitting radionuclide (98% abundance) and is used widely for PET imaging. ⁶²Zn ($t_{1/2} = 9.3$ h) decays to ⁶²Cu ($t_{1/2} = 9.7$ min) by electron capture (92%) and β^+ emission (8%). ⁶²Cu decays by β^+ emission (97%) and electron capture (3%). ⁶²Zn in 2N HCl is adsorbed on a Dowe 1 × 8 column, and ⁶²Cu is converted to ⁶²Cu-PTSM, copper-62 (II) pyruvaldehyde bis-(N-4-methyl)thiosemicarbazone which is used for myocardial and brain perfusion imaging [24]. The biggest disadvantage of this gener-

ator is the short half-life of the daughter radionuclide, limiting its use only to the day of delivery [25].

Most nuclear medicine procedures that use singlephoton emitters are based on Tc-99m or Tc-99m-labeled compounds, and the recent shortage of this radionuclide (2010 international moly crisis) demonstrated the wide and extensive importance of its clinical utility. However, there are other radiopharmaceuticals that are of particular interest in many diagnostic applications.

2.4 Common Radiopharmaceuticals

2.4.1 Thallium-201

Thallium-201 is a frequently used radiopharmaceutical in cardiac imaging in addition to its role in scanning of tumors and parathyroid adenomas [26].

²⁰¹Tl, which is commercially available as thallium chloride, is produced by exposing pure natural ²⁰³Tl to a high-energy proton beam, resulting in production of Pb-201:

Pb-201 is then chemically separated from the target Tl-203 and allowed to decay to Tl-201.

TI-201 decays to mercury (Hg-201) by Electron Capture with a half-life of 73 h and gives off a mercury-characteristic x-ray (69-80 keV) with 95% abundance and two gamma rays of 135 and 167 keV with a combined abundance of 12%. The commercially produced thalous chloride should contain 95% of its content in the form of Tl-201 [1]. The maximum concentration of thallium in the heart is obtained approximately 10-30 min after injection in the resting state and 5 min after stress induced either physically or pharmacologically. Uptake of TI-201 into the myocardium is dependent on tissue oxygenation, which governs the blood flow as oxygen is essential in supporting TI-201 uptake through the Na-K-ATPase (adenosine triphosphatase) concentration mechanism (TI-201 and K⁺ are similarly involved in the Na-K-ATPase pump) [27]. TI-201 has been extensively used as a myocardial perfusion imaging agent in evaluating patients with coronary artery disease and in viability assessment. In addition, its role in tumor imaging has been recognized.

2.4.2 Gallium-67

Gallium-67 is a cyclotron-produced radiopharmaceutical; it can be produced by one of the following nuclear reactions:

Ga-67 decays by EC with a half-life of 78 h with the following gamma-ray energy and abundances: 93 keV (40%), 184 keV (24%), 296 keV (22%), and 388 keV (7%).

Ga-67 is delivered from the manufacturer as gallium citrate with radiochemical purity greater than 85%. Gallium is presented as Ga^{+3} in aqueous solutions, making radiopharmaceutical production easier than that with ^{99m}Tc because reduction does not have to be performed.

It is considered the master radiopharmaceutical for tumor imaging and detection of inflammatory sites. Its role is highly affected after the introduction of FDG-PET, fluorodeoxyglucose applications. On injection of gallium citrate, more than 90% of gallium becomes bound to plasma proteins, mainly *transferrin*, resulting in slow clearance from plasma. The Ga-transferrin binding procedure can be affected when transferrin is saturated with stable gallium or iron before gallium injection. Under these conditions, gallium distribution is shifted from soft tissue to bones with no change in the tumor uptake, while increasing Ga-transferrin binding causes an increase in soft tissue activity and decreased tumor activity [28].

2.4.3 Iodine Radiopharmaceuticals

Radioisotopes of iodine are widely used in nuclear medicine for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Radioiodine can substitute into many iodine radio-pharmaceuticals (e.g., ¹³¹I-MIBG, ¹²³I-MIBG, meta-iodobenzylguanidine and orthoiodohippurate [OIH]), and when oxidized for iodination (by chloramine T or chloroglycoluril), it can attach itself to aromatic rings to make different radiopharmaceuticals. The most common iodine isotopes are I-131, I-125, I-123, and ¹²³I-ioflupane.

• Iodine-131

Iodine-131 is produced as a by-product of uranium fission. I-131 decays by β emission with a half-life of 8.05 days to X-133. As a result of that decay, four γ -rays are emitted with the following energies and abundances: 364 keV (82%), 637 keV (7%), 284 keV (6%), and 723 keV (2%). The 364-keV energy photons are mainly used diagnostically. The accepted radiochemical purity from the manufacturer for I-131 as NaI is 95%, as MIBG or Norcholesterol is 95%, and as OIH is 97%. I-131 is used as NaI in thyroid therapy and diagnosis in addition to imaging of the adrenal gland (as iodomethyl-norcholestrol or MIBG) and renal tubular system (as ¹³¹I-OIH). Due to the high thyroid radiation uptake (1 rad/ μ Ci), it has been replaced by I-123 for thyroid imaging and ^{99m}Tc-MAG₃, Mercaptoacetyltriglycine for renal tubular scan. Recently, I-131 was applied for radioimmunotherapy of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) when labeled with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (131I-tositumobab) in a therapeutic regimen called BEXXAR [29].

• Iodine-125

Iodine-125 is produced from Xe-124 through the following reaction:

Then, Xe-125 decays by EC to I-125. I-125 decays by EC with a half-life of 60 days and 35-keV gamma rays. I-125, when labeled with albuminproducing radioiodinated serum albumin (RISA), is frequently used for plasma volume and GFR, Glomerular filtration rate determination. I-125-labeled antibodies are used widely for radioimmunoassay.

• Iodine-123

Iodine-123 is a cyclotron-produced radiopharmaceutical. Different methods have been used for I-123 production, although the current method of production uses the following reactions with 31-MeV protons from the cyclotrons:

1. Xe-124[p, 2n]Cs-123. Cs-123 then decays by EC and β^+ emission to Xe-123, which decays to the target radiopharmaceutical (I-123), also by EC and β^+ emission.

Xe-124[p, pn] Xe-123

2. Then, Xe-123 decays to I-123 by electron capture. I-125 is present as the only contaminant with the previous methods at a concentration of less than 0.1%. I-123 decays by EC with a 13h half-life and emits 159-keV photons with 83% abundance (ideal for imaging). Radiochemical purity of I-123 preparations from the manufacturer must exceed 95%.

I-123 is the preferred thyroid imaging agent, imparting 1% of the thyroid dose per microcurie when compared with I-131. ¹²³I-labeled compounds are commonly used as ¹²³I-MIBG for an adrenal scan, ¹²³I-OIH for a tubular renal scan, and ¹²³I-iodoamphetamine (¹²³I-IMP) for a cerebral perfusion scan [2].

• ¹²³I-Ioflupane (DaTSCAN)

DaTSCAN is a widely used ¹²³I derivative for detection of the loss of nerve cells that release dopamine in an area of the brain called the striatum; dopamine is a chemical messenger, and therefore it will be useful in diagnosis of the following:

- Movement disorders: DaTSCAN is used to help distinguish between Parkinson disease and essential tremor (tremors of unknown cause) with a sensitivity of 96.5% [30].
- Dementia: DaTSCAN is also used to help distinguish between "dementia with Lewy bodies" and Alzheimer disease with 75.0–80.25% sensitivity [31].

Dopamine transporter (DAT) imaging with tropane derivatives such as FP-CIT Fluoropropyl-Carbomethoxy-Iodophenyl-Tropane (¹²³I-Ioflupane) and β -CIT, Beta Carbomethoxy-Iodophenyl-Tropane has been developed to directly measure degeneration of dopamine presynaptic terminal and may be used to quantify changes in DAT density. Ioflupane binds specifically to certain structures of the nerve cells ending in the brain striatum that are responsible for the transport of dopamine. This binding can be detected using tomographic imaging [32].

2.4.4 Indium-111 Radiopharmaceuticals

In-111 is produced in a cyclotron through the following reaction:

Indium-111 decays with a 67-h half-life by EC as a pure gamma emitter with 173-keV (89%) abundance and 247-keV (94% abundance) photons. The gamma energies of In-111 are in the optimum range of detectability for the commercially available gamma cameras. Like Ga-67, In-111 in aqueous solutions exists only as In³⁺ and behaves chemically like iron, forming strong complexes with the plasma protein transferrin.

Because of the great stability of In-111 with transferrin, only strong chelates can be used in vivo to direct the localization of the radiopharmaceuticals to other sites. Strong chelators like DTPA, Diethlenetriaminepentaacetate or EDTA can be easily used with indium using citrates or acetates as a transfer ligand. ¹¹¹In-DTPA has been used for renal and brain imaging and is currently used for cisternography. ¹¹¹In-colloids can be used as liver/spleen imaging agents, and larger colloidal particles are commonly used for lung imaging.

The most common applications of In-111 are in labeling blood cells (white blood cells and platelets) for imaging inflammatory processes, thrombi, and proteins [33]. In protein labeling, by which proteins are primarily labeled to DTPA, choosing proper the In-111-specific concentration is of greater importance. In blood cell labeling, the plasma transferrin competes for the In-111 and reduces the labeling efficiency because In-111 binds with higher efficiency to transferrin than blood cells; therefore, isolation of the desired blood component from plasma permits easy labeling of either platelets or white blood cells.

¹¹¹In has been conjugated to octreotide as an agent for the scintigraphic localization of primary and metastatic somatostatin receptor-positive neuroendocrine tumors. A labeled form of octreotide is commercially available as the DTPA chelated compound ¹¹¹In-DTPAoctriotide (¹¹¹In-pentetreotide, Octreoscan) [34].

¹¹¹In contributes also in labeling of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) using bifunctional chelates. The chelating agent (mainly DTPA) is first conjugated to the antibody, and then ¹¹¹In binds to the conjugated MAb via the chelating agent [35]. The commercially available kit is called Oncoscint. Indium In-111 satumomab pendetide (Oncoscint) is indicated for use in immunoscintigraphy in patients with known colorectal or ovarian cancer. It helps determine the extent and location of extrahepatic foci of disease and can be helpful in the preoperative determination of the resectability of malignant lesions in these patients [36]. A murine monoclonal antibody produced against prostate carcinoma and prostate hypertrophy is chelated to GYK-DTPA, glycyl-tyrosyl-(N,epsilondiethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid) and lypophilized to give capromab pendetide. After ¹¹¹In labeling, a ¹¹¹In-capromab pendetide (ProstaScint) kit is produced for detecting primary and metastatic prostate cancer [37].

2.4.5 Xenon-133

Xenon-133 is an inert gas used mainly for lung ventilation scans and for the assessment of cerebral blood flow. It is a by-product of uranium fission with a 5.3day half-life and 35% abundance for 81-keV photons. This photon energy requires starting lung scans with ventilation followed by the ^{99m}Tc-MAA (macroaggregated albumin) perfusion scan [1].

2.4.6 Chromium-51

Chromium-51 has a half-life of 27.7 days and has long been used for labeling red blood cells as a method for determination of red cell mass and red cell survival [38].

2.4.7 Phosphorus-32

Phosphorus-32, which is delivered commercially as 32 P-sodium phosphate, is produced by irradiating sulfur with neutrons in a reactor. P-32 decays by β^- emission with a half-life of 14.3 days. 32 P-sodium phosphate is indicated for therapeutic treatment of polycythemia vera, chronic myelocytic leukemia, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia and for palliation of metastatic bone pain. Chromic 32 P-phosphate is used for treatment of peritoneal or pleural effusions caused by metastatic disease [39, 40].

2.4.8 Strontium-89

Strontium-89 (pure β^- emitter) is produced in the reactor and decays with a half-life of 50.6 days [41].

⁸⁹Sr-chloride (Metastron) is used for relief of bone pain since the compound behaves biologically as calcium does and localizes at the sites of active osteogenesis [42].

2.4.9 Rhenium-186

Rhenium-186 is a reactor-produced radiopharmaceutical that decays by β^- emission and has a half-life of 3.8 days. Re-186 is complexed with hydroxyethylene diphosphonate (HEDP) after reduction with stannous ions like Tc-99m. ¹⁸⁶Re-HEDP with radiochemical purity over 97% is useful for bone pain palliative therapy [43]. A whole-body scan can also be obtained using its 137-keV energy photons [44].

2.4.10 Samarium-153

Samarium-153 is a reactor-produced radionuclide that decays by β^- emission and has a half-life of 46.3 h. Sm-153 is complexed with a bone-seeking agent, ethylenediaminetetramethylene phosphonic acid (EDTMP), which localizes in bone metastases by chemisorption. ¹⁵³Sm-EDTMP is approved by FDA for relief of metastatic bone pain. Its duration of response is 1–12 months. In addition, its 103-keV photons allow scintigraphic imaging of the whole body [45]46.

2.4.11 ¹¹¹In- and ⁹⁰Y-Ibritumomab Tiuxetan (Zevalin)

Zevalin (¹¹¹In- and ⁹⁰Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan) consists of a murine monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody covalently conjugated to the metal chelator DTPA, which forms a stable complex with ¹¹¹In for imaging and with ⁹⁰Y for therapy. ⁹⁰Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan is used for the treatment of some forms of B-cell NHL, a myeloproliferative disorder of the lymphatic system, while its ¹¹¹In derivative is used to scan the predicted distribution of a therapeutic dosage of ⁹⁰Y-ibritumomab in the body [47]. The antibody binds to the CD20 antigen found on the surface of normal and malignant B cells (but not Bcell precursors), allowing radiation from the attached isotope (yttrium-90) to kill it and some nearby cells. In addition, the antibody itself may trigger cell death via antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, complement-dependent cytotoxicity, and apoptosis. Together, these actions eliminate B cells from the body, allowing a new population of healthy B cells to develop from lymphoid stem cells [48].

An earlier version of anti-CD20 antibody, Rituximab, has also been approved under the brand name Rituxan for the treatment of NHL. Ibritumomab tiuxetan was the first radioimmunotherapy drug approved by the FDA in 2002 to treat cancer. It was approved for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory, low-grade or follicular B-cell NHL, including patients with rituximab-refractory follicular NHL. In September 2009, ibritumomab received approval from the FDA for an expanded label for the treatment of patients with previously untreated follicular NHL, who achieve a partial or complete response to first-line chemotherapy.

2.4.12 ⁹⁰Y-Labeled Microspheres

Treatment of hepatic carcinomas and metastasis have experienced many trials [49] of the use of ceramic or resin microspheres with certain types of beta-emitting radiation to enhance their response rate. However, many side effects observed can contraindicate their usage for this purpose (e.g., secondary medullary toxicity with the release of 90 Y from the microspheres). Accordingly, modification of these methods was applied to develop new microspheres containing yttrium-90 in a stable form, preventing the release of the radioactive material in the surrounding matrix. Two products have been presented: SIR-Spheres with a 35-µm diameter (Medical Sirtec Ltd., Australia) and TheraSphere with a 20- to 30-µm diameter (MDS Nordion, Ottawa, Canada) [50]. This therapeutic module should be initiated with a diagnostic estimation of the possibility of locating and quantifying a possible pulmonary shunt. This is achievable by injection of ^{99m}Tc-MAA into the hepatic artery [51]. When yttrium-90 is incorporated into the tiny glass beds, it can be injected through the blood vessels supplying

the liver through a long and flexible plastic tube (catheter) with guided fluoroscopy. This procedure allows a large local dose of radiation to be delivered to the tumor with less risk of toxicity to other parts of the body or the healthy liver tissues. The radiation from the induced ⁹⁰Y activity is contained within the body and becomes minimally active within 7 days after treatment due to physical decay [52].

2.4.13 Lutetium-177 Compounds

Lutium-177 ($T_{1/2} = 6.71$ days) is a radionuclide of exciting potential. It is used in a manner similar to yttrium-90; however, it has slightly different advantages:

- 1. It has both beta particle emissions ($E_{max} = 497$, 384 and 176 keV) for therapeutic effect and gamma emissions (113 and 208 keV) for imaging purposes.
- It has a shorter radius of penetration than Y-90, which makes it an ideal candidate for radioimmunotherapy for smaller and soft tumors.

Many Lu-177 derivatives have been developed for many therapeutic purposes, such as

- 1. Lu-177 labeled EDTMP and 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraaminomethylenephosphonate (DOTMP) for bone pain palliation [53]
- Lu-177 labeled radioimmunoconjugates (Lu-177 monoclonal antibody, 7E11) constructs for radioimmunotherapy of prostate cancer [54]
- Lu-177-DOTA, tetra-azacyclododecanetetra-acetic acid octreotate for targeted radiotherapy of endocrine tumors [55].

References

- Wilson MA (1998) Textbook on nuclear medicine. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia
- 2. Saha GB (2004) Fundamentals of radiopharmacy, 5th edn. Springer, Berlin
- Bernier D, Christian P, Langan LJ (1998) Nuclear medicine technology and techniques, 3rd edn. Mosby, St. Louis
- Meikle S, Kench P, Kassiou M, Banati R (2005) Small animal SPECT and its place in the matrix of molecular imaging technologies. Phys Med Biol 50(22):R45–R61

- Karesh S (1996) Radiopharmaceuticals a tutorial. Loyola University Medical Education Network, Chicago
- Saha GB, MacIntyre WJ, Go RT (1992) Cyclotrons and positron emission tomography for clinical imaging. Semin Nucl Med 22:150
- Lewis DM (1995) Isotope production and the future potential of accelerators. In: Proceedings of the.14th international conference on cyclotrons and their applications, Cape Town
- Grey-Morgan T, Hubbard RE (1992) The operation of cyclotrons used for radiopharmaceutical production. In: Proceedings of the 13th international conference on cyclotrons and their applications, Vancouver
- 9. IAEA (2006) Directory of cyclotrons used for radionuclide production in member states. IAEA-DCRP, Vienna
- Eckelman WC, Coursey BM (eds) (1982) Technetium-99m: generators, chemistry and preparation of radiopharmaceuticals. Int J Appl Radiat Isot 33:793
- Marengo M, Apriele C, Bagnara C, Bolzati C, Bonada C, Candini G, Casati R, Civollani S, Colompo FR, Compagnone G, Del Dottore F, DI Gugliemo E, Ferretti PP, Lazzari S, Minoia C, Pancaldi D, Ronchi A, Di Toppi GS, Saponaro R, Torregionai T, Uccelli L, Vecchi F, Piffanelli A (1999) Quality control of Mo99/Tc99m generators: results of a survey of the radiopharmacy working group of the Italian Association of Nuclear Medicine (AIMN). Nucl Med Commun 20:1077–1084
- Zolle I (2007) Technetium-99m pharmaceuticals. Springer, Berlin
- Holland ME, Deutsch E, Heinemann HR (1986) Studies on commercially available 99Mo/99mTc generators. II. Operating characteristics and behavior of 99M/99mTc radionuclide generators. Appl Radiat Isotopes 37:173
- Sampson C (1995) Textbook of radiopharmacy, theory and practice, 2nd edn. Taylor & Francis, London
- Teranishi K, Yamaashi Y, Maruyama Y (2002) 113Sn-113mIn generator with a glass beads column. J Radioanal Nucl Chem 254(2):369–371
- Kleynhans PH, Lötter MG, van Aswegen A, Herbst CP, Marx JD, Minnaar PC (1982) The imaging of myocardial perfusion with 81mKr during coronary arteriography. Eur J Nucl Med 7(9):405–409
- Johansson L, Stroak A (2006) Kr-81m calibration factor for the npl ionisation chamber. Appl Radiat Isotopes 64(10– 11):1360–1364
- Klein R (2007) Precision-controlled elution of a 82Sr/82Rb generator for cardiac perfusion imaging with positron emission tomography. Phys Med Biol 52:659–673
- Aardaneh K, van der Walt TN, Davids C (2006) Radiochemical separation of 82Sr and the preparation of a sterile 82Sr/82Rb generator column. J Radioanal Nucl Chem 270 (2):385–390
- Saha GB, Go RT, MacIntyre WJ et al (1990) Use of the 82Sr/82Rb generator in clinical PET studies. Nucl Med Biol 17:763
- Gennaro GP, Bergner BC, Haney PS, Kramer RH, Loberg MD (1987) Radioanalysis of 82Rb generator eluates. Int J Rad Appl Instrum A 38(3):219–225
- Breeman WAP, Verbruggen AM (2007) The 68Ge/68Ga generator has high potential, but when can we use 68Galabelled tracers in clinical routine. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34(7):978–981

- Asti M, De Pietri G, Fraternali A, Grassi E, Sghedoni R, Fioroni F, Roesch F, Versari A, Salvo D (2008) Validation of (68)Ge/(68)Ga generator processing by chemical purification for routine clinical application of (68)Ga-DOTA-TOC. Nucl Med Biol 35(6):721–724
- Haynes NG, Lacy JL, Nayak N, Martin CS, Dai D, Mathias CJ, Green MA (2000) Performance of a 62Zn/62Cu generator in clinical trials of PET perfusion agent 62Cu-PTSM. J Nucl Med 41(2):309–314
- Guillaume M, Brihaye C (1986) Generators for short-lived gamma and positron emitting radionuclides: current status and prospects. Nucl Med Biol 13:89
- 26. Vasken D, Pasquale P-F, Arrighi JA, Bacharach SL, Quyyumi AA, Freedman NMT, Bonow RO (1993) Coronary blood flow/perfusion and metabolic imaging: concordance and discordance between stress-redistributionreinjection and rest-redistribution thallium imaging for assessing viable myocardium: comparison with metabolic activity by positron emission tomography. Circulation 88 (3):941–952
- Fieno DS, Shea SM, Li Y, Harris KR, Finn JP, Li D (2004) Myocardial perfusion imaging based on the blood oxygen level-dependent effect using T2-prepared steady-state freeprecession magnetic resonance imaging. Circulation 110 (10):1284–1290
- Yutaka N, Akira F, Taiji T, Yukiya H, Susumu M (2004) Ga-67 citrate scintigraphy in the diagnosis of primary hepatic lymphoma. Clin Nucl Med 29(1):53–54
- Capizzi R (2004) Targeted radio-immunotherapy with Bexxar produces durable remissions in patients with late stage low grade Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 115:255–272
- Booij J (2001) The clinical benefit of imaging striatal dopamine transporters with [1231] FP-CIT SPET in differentiating patients with presynaptic parkinsonism from other forms of parkinsonism. Eur J Nucl Med 28:266–272
- Lorberboym M (2004) 123I-FP-CIT SPECT imaging of dopamine transporters in patients with cerebrovascular disease and clinical diagnosis of vascular parkinsonism. J Nucl Med 45:1688–1693
- Lavalaye J (2000) Effect of age and gender on dopamine transporter imaging with 123-I-FP-CIT SPECT in healthy volunteers. Eur J Nucl Med 27:867–869
- Thomas P, Mullan B (1995) Avid In-111 labeled WBC accumulation in a patient with active osteoarthritis of both knees. Clin Nucl Med 20(11):973–975
- Ha L, Mansberg R, Nguyen D (2008) Increased activity on In-111 octreotide imaging due to radiation fibrosis. Clin Nucl Med 33:46–48
- Paul BJ, George SC, Jack JE, Darlene F-B, Freeman W, Conrad N, Howard DJ (1995) Indium-111 oncoscint CR/OV and F-18 FDG in colorectal and ovarian carcinoma recurrences early observations. Clin Nucl Med 20(3):230–236
- Bray D, Mills AP, Notghi A (1994) Imaging for recurrent/ residual colorectal carcinoma using 1111n-oncoscint. Nucl Med Commun 15(4):248
- 37. Kimura M, Sivian T, Mouraviev V, Mayes J, Price M, Bannister M, Madden J, Wong T, Polascik T (2009) Utilization of 111In-capromab pendetide SPECT-CT for detecting seminal vesicle invasion with recurrent prostate cancer after primary in situ therapy. Int J Urol 16(12):971–975

- 38. Dworkin HJ, Premo M, Dees S (2007) Comparison of red cell and whole blood volume as performed using both chromium-51-tagged red cells and iodine-125-tagged albumin and using I-131-tagged albumin and extrapolated red cell volume. Am J Med Sci 334(1):37–40
- Kaplan E, Fels IG, Kotlowski BR (1960) Therapy of carcinoma of the prostate metastatic to bone with P-32 labeled condensed phosphate. J Nucl Med 1:1–13
- Lewington VJ (1993) Targeted radionuclide therapy for bone metastases. Eur J Nucl Med 20:66–74
- Blake GM, Wood JF, Wood PJ, Zivanovic MA, Lewington VJ (1989) 89Sr therapy: strontium plasma clearance in disseminated prostatic carcinoma. Eur J Nucl Med 15:49–54
- Poner A, Mertens W (1991) Strontium 89 in the treatment of metastatic prostate cancer. Can J Oncol 1:11–18
- Ketring AR (1987) 153Sm-EDTMP and 186Re-HEDP as bone therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals. Nucl Med Biol 14:223–232
- 44. de Klerk JMH, van Dijk A, van het Schip AD, Zonnenberg BA, van Rijk PP (1992) Pharmacokinetics of rhenium-186 after administration of rhenium-186-HEDP to patients with bone metastases. J Nucl Med 33:646–651
- Holmes RA (1992) [153Sm] EDTMP: a potential therapy for bone cancer pain. Semin Nucl Med 22:41–45
- 46. Singh A, Holmes RA, Farhangi M (1989) Human pharmacokinetics of samarium-153 EDTMP in metastatic cancer. J Med 30:1814–1818
- Otte A (2006) 90Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan: new drug, interesting concept, and encouraging in practice. Nucl Med Commun 27(7):595–596

- Han S, Iagaru AH, Zhu HJ, Goris ML (2006) Experience with 90y-ibritumomab (Zevalin) in the management of refractory non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Nucl Med Commun 27(12):1022–1023
- Gray BN et al (1989) Selective internal radiation (SIR) therapy for treatment of liver metastases: measurement of response rate. J Surg Oncol 42:192–196
- 50. Biersack HJ, Freeman LM (eds) (2007) Clinical nuclear medicine. Springer, Berlin
- Ho S, Lau WY, Leung WT, Chan M, Chan KW, Johnson PJ, Li AK (1997) Arteriovenous shunts in patients with hepatic tumors. J Nucl Med 38:1201–1205
- 52. Gray BN et al (2001) Randomized trial of SIR-spheres plus chemotherapy vs. chemotherapy alone for treating patients with liver metastases from primary large bowel cancer. Ann Oncol 12:1711–1720
- Chang Y, Jeong J, Lee YS, Kim Y, Lee D, Key Chung J, Lee M (2008) Comparison of potential bone pain palliation agents – Lu-177-EDTMP and Lu-177-DOTMP. J Nucl Med 49(Supplement 1):93
- Tedesco J, Goeckeler W, Becker M, Frank K, Gulyas G, Young S (2005) Development of optimal Lu-177 labeled monoclonal antibody (7E11) constructs for radioimmunotherapy of prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol 23(June 1 Supplement):4765
- 55. Ezziddin S, Attassi M, Guhlke S, Ezziddin K, Palmedo H, Reichmann K, Ahmadzadehfar H, Biermann K, Krenning E, Biersack HJ (2007) Targeted radiotherapy of neuroendocrine tumors using Lu-177-DOTA octreotate with prolonged intervals. J Nucl Med 48(Suppl 2):394